

Published for SISSA by 🖉 Springer

RECEIVED: August 29, 2014 REVISED: October 21, 2014 ACCEPTED: November 3, 2014 PUBLISHED: November 14, 2014

# Horava-Lifshitz black hole hydrodynamics

# Christopher Eling<sup>*a*</sup> and Yaron Oz<sup>*b*</sup>

- <sup>a</sup> Max Planck Institute for Gravitational Physics, Albert Einstein Institute, Potsdam 14476, Germany
- <sup>b</sup>Raymond and Beverly Sackler School of Physics and Astronomy, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv 69978, Israel

*E-mail:* cteling@gmail.com, yaronoz@post.tau.ac.il

ABSTRACT: We consider the holographic hydrodynamics of black holes in generally covariant gravity theories with a preferred time foliation. Gravitational perturbations in these theories have spin two and spin zero helicity modes with generically different speeds. The black hole solutions possess a spacelike causal boundary called the universal horizon. We relate the flux of the spin zero perturbation across the universal horizon to the new dissipative transport in Lifshitz field theory hydrodynamics found in arXiv:1304.7481. We construct in detail the hydrodynamics of one such black hole solution, and calculate the ratio of the shear viscosity to the entropy density.

KEYWORDS: Classical Theories of Gravity, Black Holes, Holography and condensed matter physics (AdS/CMT)

ARXIV EPRINT: 1408.0268

# Contents

1	Introduction		1
<b>2</b>	Einstein-aether and Horava-Lifshitz		3
	2.1	Einstein-aether action and field equations	3
	2.2	Hypersurface orthogonality and Horava-Lifshitz gravity	4
	2.3	Asymptotically Lifshitz solutions	5
3	Holographic Lifshitz hydrodynamics		5
	3.1	Lifshitz field theory hydrodynamics	5
	3.2	The boundary stress-energy tensor	6
	3.3	Constraint equations	7
4	Black brane hydrodynamics with $z = 1$		9
	4.1	Equilibrium solution	9
	4.2	The first order corrections	11
	4.3	Raychaudhuri equation and the entropy law	13
	4.4	The ratio of shear viscosity to entropy density	14
5 Discussion		15	

# 1 Introduction

A generic, generally covariant model of local Lorentz violating gravity is Einstein-aether theory [1, 2]. In this theory the symmetry is broken by the aether covector  $v_A$ , which is a dynamical field that is constrained to be unit timelike. As a consequence, the theory has in general spin-2, spin-1, and spin-0 gravitational wave polarizations traveling at different speeds. A particular choice for the aether field is to be hypersurface orthogonal, thus determining a preferred time foliation of space-time. In this case the Einstein-aether theory can be reduced [3, 4] to the Horava-Lifshitz theory [5].

Spherically symmetric asymptotically flat black hole solutions were first constructed in [6, 7]. The absence of local Lorentz symmetry has profound effects on black hole thermodynamics. Causality is no longer determined by the light cone, and the presence of multiple horizons seems to conflict with both the Zeroth and Second Laws [8–10]. Still, one can argue (see, e.g. [7, 11]) that there is a natural notion of causality defined by the preferred time foliation itself. At spatial infinity the time translation Killing vector and the aether are naturally aligned. However deep in the bulk, surfaces of constant preferred time bend and these two vectors eventually become orthogonal on a spacelike hypersurface. This is equivalent to the statement that the aether time  $\tau \to \infty$  on this hypersurface, called "universal horizon". Beyond the universal horizon even instantaneously propagating modes are causally disconnected from spatial infinity. Studies of the universal horizon suggest an associated temperature, and a first law of thermodynamics [12–15].

In this paper we will be interested in studying the Einstein-aether/Horava-Lifshitz theory with a negative cosmological constant, in the context of holography and the equivalence to a non-gravitational field theory. Holography is expected to relate these gravitational systems to field theories with broken Lorentz invariance in one lower space dimension. When the bulk aether field is hypersurface orthogonal, it induces a foliation at the boundary. The corresponding boundary field theories are known as Lifshitz field theories. In such field theories Lorentz invariance is broken.

Lifshitz field theories exhibit an anisotropic scaling of space and time (Lifshitz scaling)  $x^i \to \lambda x^i, i = 1, \ldots, d, t \to \lambda^z t$ . z is called a dynamical exponent and is a measure of the anisotropy. In relativistic conformal field theories (CFTs) z = 1. The dynamical exponent differs from one in general Lifshitz theories. Examples of Lifshitz dual theories in 2 + 1 dimensional space-time are given by quantum critical points (QCPs). Such theories describe phase transitions at zero temperature driven by quantum fluctuations [16].

At zero temperature the correlation length  $\xi$  at the QCP diverges. Raising the temperature, one finds a quantum critical regime, where the system properties are constrained by the anisotropic scaling at the QCP. Denote by L a characteristic length scale of the system and by T the temperature. Hydrodynamics provides a good description in the quantum critical regime at the range of scales  $\xi \gg L \gg l_T \sim \frac{1}{T^{\frac{1}{2}}}$ . The hydrodynamics expansion parameter is the dimensionless ratio  $\frac{l_T}{L}$ .

Since boost invariance is broken in Lifshitz field theories, the stress-energy tensor is no longer symmetric. The asymmetric term is associated with the foliation 1-form. With rotation invariance, the hydrodynamics of Lifshitz field theories exhibits one new dissipative transport coefficient at the first dissipative order found in [17, 18].

The gauge/gravity duality relates field theories at finite temperature to black holes in one higher space dimension. We will be interested in the out of equilibrium dynamics of such black holes. We will work in the hydrodynamic regime, which is described by black hole deformations, order by order in a derivative expansion. The field theory Navier-Stokes equations are the gravity constraint equations [19], which are also the horizon evolution equations [20].

Gravity is non-dissipative, however the horizon being a one way membrane introduces an effective dissipation: what goes in cannot go out. We propose that this boundary condition should be imposed at the universal horizon in these theories. Gravitational backgrounds with preferred foliation allow the propagation of spin-2 and spin-0 helicity gravitons. In thermal field theory language these two modes correspond to two possible channels of dissipation. The dissipation associated with the spin-2 helicity mode is seen in the standard relativistic hydrodynamics as the viscosity terms in the symmetric stressenergy tensor. The dissipation associated with the spin-0 helicity should be related to a new transport coefficient. We will argue that this is the new dissipation in Lifshitz field theory hydrodynamics appearing in the asymmetric part of the stress-energy tensor, and discovered in [17, 18].

In the special case where z = 1, an analytic asymptotically Lifshitz plane symmetric

black hole solution to Horava-Lifshitz gravity is available [21, 22]. We will show that this new transport coefficient is zero is this case, and we will calculate the shear viscosity ratio  $\eta/s$ .

The paper is organized as follows. In section two we will discuss Einstein-aether and Horava-Lifshitz theories, the action and the classical field equations, and asymptotically Lifshitz solutions when a negative cosmological constant is added. In section three we will discuss Holographic Lifshitz Hydrodynamics. We will briefly review Lifshitz field theory hydrodynamics and construct the boundary stress-energy tensor. We will explain how its asymmetric part arises and exhibit the new dissipative transport coefficient associated with it. We will present the constraint equations and in particular the null focusing equation that is the gravitational counterpart of the entropy current divergence in field theory hydrodynamics. We will show where the new channel for dissipation comes from and connect it to the flux of the spin-0 helicity mode through the universal horizon. In section four we will analyze in detail the hydrodynamics at the first derivative order of a particular z = 1analytic solution of Horava-Lifshitz black brane hydrodynamics. We will show that the new dissipative transport associated with the lack of Lorentz invariance vanishes in this case. We will calculate the ratio of the shear viscosity to the entropy density and show that it deviates from the general relativity result. Section five is devoted to a discussion of open problems.

#### 2 Einstein-aether and Horava-Lifshitz

#### 2.1 Einstein-aether action and field equations

In the following we will work in four-dimensional space-time dimensions (the generalization to other dimensions is straightforward). The action for Einstein-aether theory is given by

$$S_{ae} = \frac{1}{16\pi G_{ae}} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} L_{ae} \,, \tag{2.1}$$

where  $L_{ae} = R + L_{vec}$ ,

$$-L_{vec} = K^{AB}{}_{CD} \nabla_A v^C \nabla_B v^D - \lambda (v^2 + 1), \qquad (2.2)$$

with "kinetic" tensor defined as

$$K^{AB}{}_{CD} = c_1 g^{AB} g_{CD} + c_2 \delta^A_C \delta^B_D + c_3 \delta^A_D \delta^B_C - c_4 v^A v^B g_{CD} .$$
(2.3)

This is the most general effective action for a timelike unit vector field at 2nd order in derivatives.

Varying this action with respect to the metric, vector field, and the Lagrange multiplier  $\lambda$ , one finds the following field equations

$$G_{AB} = T_{AB}^{ae}, \quad E_A = 0, \quad v^2 = -1.$$
 (2.4)

The aether stress tensor is given by

$$T_{AB}^{ae} = \lambda v_A v_B + c_4 a_A^{(v)} a_B^{(v)} - \frac{1}{2} g_{AB} Y^C{}_D \nabla_C v^D + \nabla_C X^C{}_{AB} + c_1 [(\nabla_A v_C) (\nabla_B v^C) - (\nabla^C v_A) (\nabla_C v_B)], \qquad (2.5)$$

where

$$Y^A{}_B = K^{AC}{}_{BD} \nabla_C v^D \,, \tag{2.6}$$

$$X^{C}{}_{AB} = Y^{C}{}_{(A}v_{B)} - v_{(A}Y_{B)}{}^{C} + v^{C}Y_{(AB)}, \qquad (2.7)$$

and  $a_A^{(v)} = v^B \nabla_B v_A$  is the aether acceleration (which we distinguish from the fluid acceleration defined in the next section). The aether field equation is

$$E_A = \nabla_B Y^B{}_A + \lambda v_A + c_4 (\nabla_A v^B) a_B^{(v)} .$$
(2.8)

## 2.2 Hypersurface orthogonality and Horava-Lifshitz gravity

Consider now the case where the aether field is hypersurface orthogonal. This means that the twist vanishes

$$v_{[A}\nabla_B v_{C]} = 0. (2.9)$$

Since the squared twist also vanishes

$$\omega^2 = (\nabla_A v_B)(\nabla^A v^B) - (\nabla_A v_B)(\nabla^B v^A) + a^2, \qquad (2.10)$$

adding a twist squared term to the action doesn't affect the solutions. We can therefore eliminate either  $c_1$ ,  $c_3$  or  $c_4$  in the action. Here we will choose to eliminate  $c_1$ , i.e we take  $c_1 = 0$  from now on.

Hypersurface orthogonality implies the co-vector is the gradient of a scalar

$$v_A = \frac{-\partial_A \phi}{\sqrt{g^{CD} \partial_C \phi \partial_D \phi}} . \tag{2.11}$$

One can show that hypersurface orthogonal solutions of Einstein-aether theory are also solutions to Horava-Lifshitz gravity [3]. The connection can be made explicit by choosing coordinates such that  $\phi = \tau$ , where  $\tau$  is the preferred foliation of time. In this gauge the Einstein-aether action reduces to the generic 3+1 form of the Horava-Lifshitz action (e.g. [21])

$$S_{HL} = \frac{1}{16\pi G_H} \int d\tau d^3 x \sqrt{\gamma} \left( K_{ab} K^{ab} - (1-\lambda) K^2 + (1+\beta) R^{(3)} + \tilde{\alpha} \frac{\nabla_a N \nabla^a N}{N^2} \right) .$$
(2.12)

Here  $K_{ab}$  is the extrinsic curvature of the preferred time slices,  $\gamma_{ab}$  the spatial metric on the slices,  $R^{(3)}$  the intrinsic Ricci scalar and N is the lapse function, i.e.  $v_A = -N\delta_A^{\tau}$ . The mapping between the constants is given by

$$1 + \lambda = \frac{1 + c_2}{1 - c_3}, \quad \tilde{\alpha} = \frac{c_4}{1 - c_3}, \quad \frac{G_H}{G_{ae}} = 1 + \beta = \frac{1}{1 - c_3}$$
 (2.13)

In generic Einstein-aether theory there are five propagating degrees of freedom with spin-2, spin-1, and spin-0 helicities [23]. In Horava-Lifshitz the spin-1 mode is non-propagating. The squared speeds of the remaining modes are given (in four dimensions) by [21]

$$s_2^2 = \frac{1}{1 - c_3}, \quad s_0^2 = \frac{(c_2 + c_3)(3 - c_4)}{c_4(1 - c_3)(3 - 4c_2 + c_3)}.$$
 (2.14)

#### 2.3 Asymptotically Lifshitz solutions

In [22] asymptotically Lifshitz and AdS solutions were studied in detail. For additional studies of these solutions, see [24–27]. In this case one adds a negative cosmological constant  $\Lambda$  to the action above

$$L_{total} = \frac{1}{16\pi G_{ae}} \left(\Lambda + L_{ae}\right) \ . \tag{2.15}$$

We consider a metric and aether ansatz of the form

$$ds^{2} = F(\rho)dt^{2} - 2G(\rho)dtd\rho + \rho^{2}dx_{i}dx^{i},$$
(2.16)

$$v_A dx^A = \frac{G(\rho)^2 - F(\rho)K(\rho)^2}{2K(\rho)G(\rho)} dt + K(\rho)d\rho .$$
 (2.17)

For eshadowing the holographic setup, we take  $x^A = (x^{\mu}, \rho)$  with field theory coordinates  $x^{\mu} = (t, x^i)$ . The Lifshitz scaling reads  $\rho \to \lambda^{-1}\rho, x^i \to \lambda x^i, t \to \lambda^z t$ .

Near infinity, the solution is required to approach

$$ds^{2} \sim -\rho^{2z} dt^{2} + 2\rho^{z-1} dt d\rho + \rho^{2} dx_{i} dx^{i}$$
(2.18)

$$K(\rho) \sim \frac{1}{\rho},\tag{2.19}$$

It turns out that consistency of the field equations with this ansatz requires

$$c_4 = \frac{z-1}{z}, \Lambda = -\frac{(1+z)(2+z)}{2} .$$
(2.20)

Generically, solutions with  $z \neq 1$  can only be found numerically. In the case where z = 1 and  $c_4 = 0$  (asymptotically AdS) an analytic solution was found in [22]. We will consider this case later in the paper. We expect that long wavelength, long time perturbations of these Lifshitz black brane solutions to be described by the hydrodynamics of Lifshitz field theories, which we describe in the following section.

# 3 Holographic Lifshitz hydrodynamics

# 3.1 Lifshitz field theory hydrodynamics

Since boost invariance is explicitly broken in Lifshitz field theories, the conserved stressenergy tensor is not necessarily symmetric. In order to see its asymmetric part, we have to construct it not as a response of the action S to a change in a background metric  $h_{\mu\nu}$ , but rather as a response to a change in the vielbein  $e_a^{\mu}$  (by a we denote tangent space indices)

$$T^a_\mu = -\frac{1}{e} \frac{\delta S}{\delta e^\mu_a} \ . \tag{3.1}$$

The vielbein encodes both the metric data  $h_{\mu\nu} = e^a_{\mu} e^b_{\nu} \eta_{ab}$ , and the foliation data  $v_{\mu} = e^a_{\mu} v_a$ , where  $v_a = (1, 0, ..., 0)$ .

Using (3.1) one has

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \Theta_{\mu\nu} + J_{\mu}v_{\nu} \,, \tag{3.2}$$

where

$$\Theta_{\mu\nu} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{-h}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta h^{\mu\nu}}, \qquad J_{\mu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-h}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta v^{\mu}}.$$
(3.3)

We see from (3.2) that the asymmetric part of the stress-energy tensor arises from  $J_{\mu}v_{\nu}$ and is directly connected to the foliation data.

Consider next the hydrodynamics of Lifshitz field theories. The hydrodynamic stressenergy tensor in the uncharged case is expressed in terms of the temperature T, the velocity vector  $u^{\mu}$  normalized as  $u_{\mu}u^{\mu} = -1$ , and their derivatives via the constitutive relations. The hydrodynamics equations are the conservation law of the stress-energy tensor  $\partial_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = 0$ . As above, since boost invariance is explicitly broken, the stress-energy tensor can have an asymmetric part. Assuming rotation invariance, the asymmetric term shows up at the first viscous order [17, 18].

The energy-momentum tensor in the Landau frame  $T^{\mu\nu}u_{\nu} = -\varepsilon u^{\mu}$  takes the form

$$T^{\mu\nu} = \varepsilon u^{\mu} u^{\nu} + p P^{\mu\nu} + \pi_S^{(\mu\nu)} + \pi_A^{[\mu\nu]} + (u^{\mu} \pi_A^{[\nu\sigma]} + u^{\nu} \pi_A^{[\mu\sigma]}) u_{\sigma}, \qquad (3.4)$$

with  $\pi_S^{(\mu\nu)}u_{\nu} = 0$ . At first order in derivatives  $\pi_S^{(\mu\nu)}$  includes the shear and bulk viscosities. The antisymmetric part of the stress-energy tensor reads at first order

$$\pi_A^{[\mu\nu]} = -\alpha u^{[\mu} a^{\nu]} \,, \tag{3.5}$$

where  $a^{\mu} = u^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} u^{\mu}$  is the fluid acceleration, and  $\alpha$  is a dissipative transport coefficient. It contributes to the divergence of the entropy current  $s^{\mu} = su^{\mu}$ 

$$\partial_{\mu}s^{\mu} = \frac{2\eta}{T}\sigma_{\mu\nu}\sigma^{\mu\nu} + \frac{\zeta}{T}(\partial_{\mu}u^{\mu})^2 + \frac{\alpha}{T}a_{\mu}a^{\mu} . \qquad (3.6)$$

Here  $\sigma_{\mu\nu} = P^{\lambda}_{\mu}P^{\sigma}_{\nu}\partial_{(\lambda}u_{\sigma)} - \frac{1}{3}P_{\mu\nu}\partial_{\lambda}u^{\lambda}$  is the fluid shear tensor, with  $P_{\mu\nu} = h_{\mu\nu} + u_{\mu}u_{\nu}$  the projection tensor orthogonal to  $u^{\mu}$ . The local form of the second law of thermodynamics  $\partial_{\mu}s^{\mu} \geq 0$  requires that  $\alpha \geq 0$ , in addition to the usual positivity conditions on the shear and bulk viscosities  $\eta$  and  $\zeta$ , respectively. We will argue that the  $a_{\mu}a^{\mu}$  entropy production term corresponds to the flux of spin-0 helicity graviton through the universal horizon.

## 3.2 The boundary stress-energy tensor

In the following we derive the boundary stress-energy tensor from the gravity side. Suppose that we have the on-shell classical action  $S_{cl}$ , which is a function of boundary data  $h_{\mu\nu}$  and  $v_{\mu}$ . This classical action is invariant under diffeomorphisms in the boundary generated by  $\xi^{\mu}$ . One finds

$$\delta_{\xi} S_{cl} = \int \left( \frac{\delta S_{cl}}{\delta h_{\mu\nu}} \mathcal{L}_{\xi} h_{\mu\nu} + \frac{\delta S_{cl}}{\delta v_{\mu}} \mathcal{L}_{\xi} v_{\mu} \right) = 0 .$$
(3.7)

Next, one identifies the canonical momenta  $\Theta^{\mu\nu}$  and  $J^{\mu}$  as in (3.3). Expanding out the Lie derivatives, one gets

$$D_{\mu}(\Theta^{\mu\nu} + J^{\mu}v^{\nu}) = -J^{\mu}D^{\nu}v_{\mu}, \qquad (3.8)$$

where  $D_{\mu}$  is the intrinsic covariant derivative on the slice. In general the momentum constraints do not need to be the divergence of a symmetric tensor. We identify the object in parentheses as the stress-energy tensor (3.2).

To compute the total stress-energy tensor using the gravitational variables, we focus on the boundary terms obtained by varying the Einstein-aether action (2.1) with respect to the metric and the aether fields. The variation of the usual Einstein-Hilbert action part yields the GR Brown-York stress tensor

$$\Theta_{\mu\nu}^{BY} = \frac{1}{8\pi G_{ae}} \left( h_{\mu\nu} K - K_{\mu\nu} \right) \,, \tag{3.9}$$

where  $K_{\mu\nu}$  is the extrinsic curvature tensor. Now consider the variation of the vector part of the action  $\int -\sqrt{-g} d^4x K^{ABCD} \nabla_A v_C \nabla_B v_D$ . We find the boundary term

$$S_{bdy}^{vec} = \frac{1}{16\pi G_{ae}} \int d^3x \sqrt{h} \ n_C \left(2Y^{(CA)}v^B - Y^{AB}v^C\right) \delta g_{AB} , \qquad (3.10)$$

where  $n_A$  is the unit norm to the surface (here of constant bulk coordinate  $\rho = \rho_0$ ) and  $h_{AB} = g_{AB} - n_A n_B$ . For the contribution to the boundary stress-energy tensor, we find in our coordinates  $x^A = (x^{\mu}, \rho)$ 

$$\Theta_{\mu\nu}^{vec} = \frac{1}{8\pi G_{ae}} \left( -Y_{(\mu\nu)} v^C n_C + 2n^C Y_{C(\mu} v_{\nu)} + 2n^C Y_{(\mu|C|} v_{\nu)} \right) .$$
(3.11)

From the vector action we also find the boundary term associated with the variation of the aether co-vector

$$S_{bdy,vec}^{vec} = -\frac{1}{8\pi G_{ae}} \int d^3x \sqrt{-h} \ n_C Y^{CD} \delta v_D \ . \tag{3.12}$$

This yields the current

$$J_{\mu} = -\frac{1}{8\pi G_{ae}} n^A Y_{A\mu} \ . \tag{3.13}$$

Combining these results one gets the total boundary stress-energy tensor. Note, that evaluation on the asymptotic boundary at infinity will require the addition of counterterms in general to remove divergent terms.

# 3.3 Constraint equations

Consider the constraint equations projected on generic surfaces of constant  $\rho = \rho_0$ . In GR these take the form

$$C_{\mu} = G_{\mu B} n^B = 0 . ag{3.14}$$

In the fluid/gravity correspondence framework, one considers solutions constructed order by order in derivatives with respect to  $x^{\mu}$ . Assuming that all the field equations are imposed at (n-1) order, the *n*th order Bianchi identity

$$\nabla^A_{(0)} G^{(n)}_{A\mu} = 0 \,, \tag{3.15}$$

can be written as a partial differential equation for the constraints as a function of radial direction  $C^{(n)}_{\mu}(\rho, x^{\mu})$ . The solution of the differential equation is [28]

$$C^{(n)}_{\mu}(\rho, x^{\mu}) = \frac{F_{\mu}(x)}{A(\rho)}, \qquad (3.16)$$

where  $F_{\mu}(x)$  and  $A(\rho)$  are some functions. This off-shell analysis implies the constraint equations  $C_{\mu} = 0$  have the same form on any constant  $\rho = \rho_0$  slice. At the AdS boundary, the momentum constraints are equivalent to the fluid equations  $\partial^{\mu}T_{\mu\nu} = 0$  [19], i.e.  $F_{\nu}(x) \sim \partial^{\mu}T_{\mu\nu}$ . Thus, the factorization of the field theory and radial dependence means the constraint equations projected onto any radial surface yield the same hydrodynamics equations, with identical transport coefficients.

In Einstein-aether theory the generalized Bianchi identity takes the form

$$\nabla^{A}(G_{AB} - T_{AB}^{ae} + v_{A}E_{B}) + E_{A}\nabla_{B}v^{A} = 0, \qquad (3.17)$$

which implies the constraint equations are [29]

$$C_{\mu} = (G_{A\mu} - T^{ae}_{A\mu} + v_A E_{\mu})n^A = 0.$$
(3.18)

In this case the identity is no longer a simple conservation law, and the first term is a divergence of a non-symmetric tensor due to the  $v_A E_B$  piece. Nevertheless, repeating the same analysis as for GR outlined above, shows that the constraints factorize and one can study hydrodynamics by working on any radial slice.

Instead of considering the Einstein-aether constraint equations on the universal horizon, one can work at the Killing horizon. In this case the entropy balance law for the fluid  $u_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}T^{\mu\nu} = 0$ , can be expressed in terms of horizon variables using the null Raychaudhuri equation. The hydrodynamic entropy balance law is equivalent to

$$(G_{AB} - T_{AB}^{ae} + v_A E_B)\ell^A \ell^B = 0, \qquad (3.19)$$

where  $\ell^A$  the null normal to the horizon. For the first term we use  $g_{AB}\ell^A\ell^B = 0$  and the identity

$$G_{AB}\ell^{A}\ell^{B} = R_{AB}\ell^{A}\ell^{B} = \kappa\theta - \sigma_{AB}\sigma^{AB} - \frac{1}{2}\theta^{2}, \qquad (3.20)$$

where  $\kappa$  the surface gravity at the Killing horizon, and  $\theta$  and  $\sigma_{AB}$  are the horizon expansion and shear tensor respectively.

Now it remains to evaluate the aether contributions using the field equations above. We concentrate on the contraction  $(v_A \ell^A) E_B \ell^B$ . Using the aether field equation (2.8) and the form of the stress tensor, we see that the  $(v_A \ell^A) \ell^C \nabla_B Y^B{}_C$  and  $\lambda (v_A \ell^A)^2$  terms cancel out. The remaining pieces are

$$(-T_{AB}^{ae} + v_A E_B)\ell^A \ell^B = c_4 (v_A \ell^A) (\ell^C \nabla_C v^B) a_B - c_4 (a_A \ell^A)^2$$

$$-\ell^A \ell^B (Y^C{}_A \nabla_C v_B - (\nabla_C v_A) Y_B{}^C - v_A \nabla_C Y_B{}^C + (\nabla_C v^C) Y_{AB} + v^C \nabla_C Y_{AB}) .$$
(3.21)

## 4 Black brane hydrodynamics with z = 1

In this section we will analyze the hydrodynamics of the black brane solution found in [22] when z = 1, that is  $c_4 = 0$ . The case z = 1 is special since the Lifshitz scaling symmetry of the boundary field theory is the same as that of relativistic CFTs, and implies the tracefree condition on the stress-energy tensor

$$T^{\mu}_{\mu} = 0$$
 . (4.1)

Boost invariance, however, is still expected to be broken in the boundary field theory. The gravitational solution is asymptotically AdS, but has a preferred time foliation and a universal horizon in the bulk interior.

In [30], it has been shown that in Horava-Lifshitz gravity the linearized spin-0 scalar perturbations around stationary background solutions generically do not propagate when  $c_4 = 0$  (denoted by  $\tilde{\alpha} = 0$  in (2.12)). Moreover, as we discussed in the previous section, the divergence of the fluid entropy current is equivalent to (3.19), which measures the flux of matter-energy across the horizon. The spin-0 flux is proportional to the energy density in the spin-0 waves times their speed  $s_0$ . The spin-0 energy density scales like  $c_4$  [31, 32], while  $s_0$  (2.14) goes like  $c_4^{-1/2}$ . Thus the spin-0 flux scales like  $\sqrt{c_4}$  and must vanish when z = 1. In the field theory language we expect this to translate into the statement that  $\alpha = 0$  in this case.

In the following we will study the first order hydrodynamics of this solution and show that this is indeed the case. We will calculate the ratio of the shear viscosity to entropy density and show that it deviates from that of Einstein gravity. Note, that while the first order hydrodynamics of the z = 1 solution is a CFT hydrodynamics, this does not necessarily imply that a non-relativistic behavior cannot be seen in the boundary field theory beyond the hydrodynamic regime.

# 4.1 Equilibrium solution

We return to the metric and aether ansatz in (2.17). The  $c_4 = 0$  solution is

$$F(\rho) = -\rho^2 + \frac{2\rho_h^3}{\rho} + \frac{c_3\rho_h^6}{(1-c_3)\rho^4}$$
(4.2)

$$G(\rho) = 1 \tag{4.3}$$

$$K(\rho) = \frac{\rho^2}{(\frac{1}{\sqrt{1-c_3}} - 1)\rho_h^3 + \rho^3}.$$
(4.4)

The parameter  $\rho_h$  is the value of the universal horizon. This is defined as the value where the dot product of the timelike Killing vector and the aether vanishes  $\chi^A v_A = 0$ . The above solution was obtained by demanding regularity at this point- that both  $(\chi^A v_A)^2$  and its first derivative vanish there. The solution does not depend on  $c_2$  since the covariant divergence of the aether  $\nabla_A v^A = 0$ . This condition means all terms proportional to  $c_2$  in the field equations vanish. It has been argued [13, 22] that there is a Hawking temperature associated with this surface

$$T = \frac{3\rho_h}{2\pi\sqrt{1-c_3}}.$$
 (4.5)

To determine the other thermodynamical variables, one can evaluate the boundary stress tensor found in section 3.2 on this solution in the limit as  $\rho \to \infty$ . The metric at the AdS boundary is conformal to the flat metric, i.e.  $h_{\mu\nu} = \rho_0^2 \eta_{\mu\nu}$ , so one must normalize the expression by the overall conformal weight factor (in four dimensions)

$$T^{bdy}_{\mu\nu} = \lim_{\rho_0 \to \infty} \rho_0 T^{\text{tot}}_{\mu\nu}.$$
(4.6)

 $T^{bdy}_{\mu\nu}$  also contains divergent terms in the limit that must be subtracted off by the addition of appropriate counterterms to  $T^{\text{tot}}_{\mu\nu}$ . Computing the stress tensor using (3.9), (3.11), and (3.13) we find that the only counterterm needed to produce a finite answer is just the GR one,

$$T^{counter}_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{1}{4\pi G_{ae}} h_{\mu\nu},\tag{4.7}$$

independent of  $c_3$  and proportional to the boundary metric.

The final result is a conformal perfect fluid stress tensor

$$T^{bdy}_{\mu\nu} = p \left( \eta_{\mu\nu} + 3u_{\mu}u_{\nu} \right) \tag{4.8}$$

with energy density

$$\epsilon = 2p = \frac{\rho_h^3}{4\pi G_{ae}}.\tag{4.9}$$

This agrees with the value found by the on-shell Hamiltonian analysis in [22]. The value of thermal entropy density can be derived for example from the thermodynamic identity  $\epsilon + p = sT$ , giving

$$s = \frac{\rho_h^2 \sqrt{1 - c_3}}{4}.$$
 (4.10)

Note, that in the weak field regime the effective Newton constant  $G_{ae} = G_N$  when z = 1,  $c_4 = 0$ . We will set this constant to be unity.

To probe the nature of the dual system, one can study perturbations of this solution in the fluid-gravity setting. One considers the equilibrium metric and aether in a generally boosted frame

$$ds^{2} = F(\rho)u_{\mu}u_{\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} - 2u_{\mu}dx^{\mu}d\rho + \rho^{2}P_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}$$
(4.11)

$$v_A dx^A = K(\rho) d\rho + \frac{1 - F(\rho) K(\rho)^2}{2K(\rho)} u_\mu dx^\mu , \qquad (4.12)$$

where  $u^{\mu}$  is the usual boost (fluid) velocity. Note that in GR, the boost we have implemented is a general coordinate transformation, which is a symmetry of the theory. However,

in the Horava-Lifshitz case the symmetry group is reduced to that of coordinate transformations that preserve the preferred time foliation. Since a boost naturally changes the notion of simultaneity, the solution in the boosted frame is not physically equivalent to the one in the rest frame.

The procedure is to then allow the velocity and Hawking temperature to be functions of the field theory coordinates:  $u^{\mu}(x^{\mu})$  and  $\rho_h(x^{\mu})$ . Since the metric and aether are no longer solutions, one must solve the field equations order by order in derivatives of  $x^{\mu} = (t, x^i)$ subject to asymptotically AdS and regularity in the bulk interior.

## 4.2 The first order corrections

We make the ansatz that the solution to the metric and aether field at first order in derivatives has the following form

$$g_{AB}dx^{A}dx^{B} = F(\rho)u_{\mu}u_{\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} - 2u_{\mu}dx^{\mu}d\rho + \rho^{2}P_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} - 2J(\rho)u_{\mu}a_{\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} + L(\rho)u_{\mu}u_{\nu}(\partial_{\lambda}u^{\lambda})dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} + H(\rho)\sigma_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}, \quad (4.13)$$

while the aether is

$$v_A dx^A = K(\rho) d\rho + \frac{1 - F(\rho) K(\rho)^2}{2K(\rho)} u_\mu dx^\mu + M(\rho) a_\mu dx^\mu - (1/2) K(\rho) L(\rho) u_\mu (\partial_\lambda u^\lambda) dx^\mu .$$
(4.14)

This assumes the standard fluid-gravity gauge choice that at all orders  $g_{\rho\rho} = 0$  and  $g_{\rho\mu} = -u_{\mu}$ . Note that this form of the first order correction is consistent with the unit vector condition on the aether field  $v_A v^A = -1$ . This is the most general ansatz for the metric and aether one can write down using first order hydrodynamical variables (derivatives of temperature have been traded for derivatives of  $u_{\mu}$  using the zeroth order equations).

Using xAct [33] one can compute the full set of Einstein-aether field equations to first order in derivatives in order to solve for the unknown functions  $J(\rho)$ ,  $L(\rho)$ ,  $M(\rho)$ , and  $H(\rho)$ . We will first concentrate the solutions to  $J(\rho)$ ,  $L(\rho)$ , and  $M(\rho)$ . The solution for  $L(\rho)$  can be found from the  $F_{\rho\rho} = 0$ ,  $E_{\rho} = 0$ ,  $u^{\mu}F_{\rho\mu} = 0$  where  $F_{AB} = G_{AB} - 3g_{AB} + T_{AB}^{ae}$ . These are a complicated set of ordinary differential equations. Solving in for example Maple, one finds the only solution is  $L(\rho) = \rho$ .

The field equations components  $P^{\nu}_{\mu}E_{\nu} = 0$  and  $P^{\nu}_{\mu}F_{\rho\nu} = 0$ , are a very complicated coupled system of differential equations for M and J. In this case finding a simple solution is more difficult. If we impose boundary conditions for the problem, e.g.  $J(\rho) \sim \rho + const. +$  $1/\rho + \cdots$  the solution is just  $J(\rho) = \rho$  and  $M(\rho) = K(\rho)\rho$ . As a result, the metric and aether turn out to be conformally covariant, following [34]. The combination

$$A_{\mu}^{(1)} = a_{\mu} - \frac{1}{2}u_{\mu}(\partial_{\lambda}u^{\lambda})$$
(4.15)

transforms like a connection under conformal transformations of the boundary metric. Explicitly,  $g_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow e^{2\phi(x)}g_{\mu\nu}$  implies  $A_{\mu} \rightarrow A_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\phi$ . Under the corresponding transformation of the radial coordinate  $\rho \rightarrow e^{-\phi(x)}\rho$ , the combination

$$d\rho + \rho A_{\mu} dx^{\mu} \tag{4.16}$$

transforms covariantly.

The presence of conformal symmetry in the solution is another hint that in this special case the transport coefficient  $\alpha = 0$ . Since  $\alpha$  is tied to the antisymmetric part of the hydrodynamic stress tensor, we consider the antisymmetric part of the boundary stress. In general this has the form

$$T^{bdy}_{[\mu\nu]} = \frac{1}{8\pi G_{ae}} \left( c_3 n_A \nabla_{[\mu} v^A v_{\nu]} - c_4 (n_A v^A) a^{(v)}_{[\mu} v_{\nu]} \right)$$
(4.17)

Notice, that the second term proportional to  $c_4$  is highly reminiscent of the  $a_{[\mu}u_{\nu]}$  term in the fluid stress, but a clear matching would require a specific solution. In our case, when  $c_4 = 0$ , we found using the first order solution that the antisymmetric part makes no contribution at the boundary. The first order corrections to the stress tensor will only involve shear terms and depend on the function  $H(\rho)$ .

The result for the shear viscosity depends on the solution for the function  $H(\rho)$ . To find  $H(\rho)$  we consider the following field equation  $P^{\sigma}_{\mu}P^{\lambda}_{\nu}F_{\sigma\lambda} = 0$ . One again we have a very complicated ordinary differential equation which we will not display here. In the limit as  $c_3 \rightarrow 0$ , this equation reduces to

$$-\frac{1}{2}\rho^{-3}\left(-2\rho^{2}\rho_{h}^{3}H''-8\rho_{h}^{3}H+4\rho^{4}+6H'\rho\rho_{h}^{3}+\rho^{5}H''-2H\rho^{3}\right)=0.$$
 (4.18)

The solution is

$$H(\rho) = -\frac{1}{6\rho_h} \left( -18A\rho_h \ln(\rho) + 6A\rho_h \ln(-2\rho_h^3 + \rho^3) - 6B\rho_h + 2^{5/3} \ln(\rho - 2^{1/3}\rho_h) - 2^{2/3} \ln(\rho^2 + 2^{1/3}\rho_h\rho + 2^{2/3}\rho_h^2) + 2^{5/3}\sqrt{3} \arctan((1/3)\sqrt{3}(2^{2/3}\rho + \rho_h)/\rho_h) \right)$$

$$(4.19)$$

Fixing AdS boundary conditions requires  $B = \sqrt{3} \cdot 2^{2/3} \pi/6\rho_h$ . The asymptotic solution near the boundary at  $x = 1/\rho = 0$  is then

$$H(x) = 2/x + 2\rho_h^3 A x + \rho_h^3 x^2 + 2\rho_h^6 A x^4 + \cdots$$
 (4.20)

Similarly, requiring that there is no divergence (curvature singularity) at the horizon fixes  $A = -2^{2/3}/3\rho_h$ . This matches the solution found in the literature, e.g. [35].

For finite  $c_3$  our strategy is to make the ansatz

$$H(x) = H_0/x + H_1 + H_2x + H_3x^2 + \cdots$$
(4.21)

and solve for the coefficients  $H_i$ . The result is that

$$H(x) = 2/x + H_2 x + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\rho_h^3 (2\sqrt{1-c_3} - c_3)}{\sqrt{1-c_3}} x^2 + \rho_h^3 H_2 x^4 + \dots$$
(4.22)

Up to order  $x^7$  the solution is characterized by one free parameter  $H_2$ . As in the pure GR case, we expect that one can tune the solution to a particular value of  $H_2$  to avoid a curvature singularity at the (Killing) horizon.

For small (positive) values of  $c_3$  one can work with the differential equation for H to first (linear) order in  $c_3$  corrections. The resulting equation can be solved analytically

$$H(\rho) = H_{GR} + \frac{1}{12\rho_h} \left( 2c_3 2^{2/3} \rho \ln(\rho - 2^{1/3}\rho_h) - c_3 2^{2/3} \ln(\rho^2 + 2^{1/3}\rho\rho_h + 2^{2/3}\rho_h^2) + 2c_3 \sqrt{3} \cdot 2^{2/3} \arctan((1/3)\sqrt{3}(2^{2/3}\rho + \rho_h)/\rho_h) + 12c_3\rho_h \right),$$

$$(4.23)$$

where  $H_{GR}$  is given by (4.19). As a result, the value of the coefficient  $H_2$  is

$$H_2 = \frac{2^{5/3}\rho_h^2}{3}(c_3/2 - 1). \tag{4.24}$$

## 4.3 Raychaudhuri equation and the entropy law

With a first order solution in hand, we now study the form of the Raychaudhuri equation for the Killing horizon. Since  $c_4 = 0$ ,

$$Y_{AB} = c_2 g_{AB} \nabla_C v^C + c_3 \nabla_B v_A. \tag{4.25}$$

We find that

$$\kappa\theta - \ell^{A}\nabla_{A}\theta - \sigma_{AB}\sigma^{AB} - \frac{1}{2}\theta^{2} + c_{2}(\ell^{B}v_{B})\ell^{A}\nabla_{A}(\nabla_{C}v^{C}) - c_{3}(\ell^{A}\nabla_{A}v^{C})(\ell^{B}\nabla_{C}v_{B}) + c_{3}(\ell^{A}\nabla^{C}v_{A})(\ell^{B}\nabla_{C}v_{B})$$
(4.26)  
$$- c_{3}(\nabla_{C}v^{C})\ell^{A}\ell^{B}\nabla_{A}v_{B} + c_{3}(\ell^{C}v_{C})\ell^{B}\nabla_{A}\nabla^{A}v_{B} - c_{3}\ell^{A}\ell^{B}v^{C}\nabla_{C}\nabla_{B}v_{A} = 0.$$

Note that the location of the Killing horizon is

$$\rho_{KH} = \left(\frac{1 - c_3 + \sqrt{1 - c_3}}{1 - c_3}\right)^{1/3} \rho_h \,, \tag{4.27}$$

and the surface gravity is

$$\kappa_{KH} = \frac{3\rho_h (1 + \sqrt{1 - c_3})(1 - c_3)^{2/3}}{(1 - c_3 + \sqrt{1 - c_3})^{5/3}}.$$
(4.28)

It is also useful to transform to a coordinate system where the horizon radius is fixed at zero:  $\bar{\rho} = \rho - \rho_{KH}(x)$ . Transforming to these coordinates, one finds

$$g_{AB}dx^{A}dx^{B} = F(\bar{\rho})u_{\mu}u_{\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} + 2u_{\mu}dx^{\mu}d\bar{\rho} + (\bar{\rho} + \rho_{KH})^{2}P_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} - 2\bar{\rho}u_{\mu}A_{\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} + H(\bar{\rho})\sigma_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} , \qquad (4.29)$$

and

$$v_A dx^A = K(\bar{\rho}) d\bar{\rho} + \frac{1 - F(\bar{\rho}) K(\bar{\rho})^2}{2K(\bar{\rho})} u_\mu dx^\mu + \bar{\rho} K(\bar{\rho}) A_\mu dx^\mu .$$
(4.30)

In this coordinates, the normal to the Killing horizon is  $u^{\mu}$  to all orders.

Now we can use this ansatz to compute the Raychaudhuri equation to second order in derivatives and then evaluate at the Killing horizon,  $\bar{\rho} = 0$ . The first step is consider the equation at first order in derivatives of  $u^{\mu}$  and  $\rho_h$ . Combining terms from both the pure gravity and aether parts of the equation, we arrive at the following result

$$\frac{3}{\rho_h (1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - c_3}})^{2/3}} \partial_\mu (\rho_h^2 u^\mu) = 0.$$
(4.31)

Up to an overall factor, this equation matches that of the entropy conservation law

$$\partial_{\mu}(su^{\mu}) = 0. \tag{4.32}$$

with s given by (4.10).

The next step is to evaluate the Raychaudhuri equation at second order in derivatives. Here we must use the other projection of the constraint equations in the horizon limit

$$(G_{A\mu} - T_{A\mu}^{ae} + v_A E_\mu)\ell^A = 0. ag{4.33}$$

This is equivalent to the fluid equation  $P^{\alpha}_{\nu}\partial_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = 0$ ,

$$P^{\nu}_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\ln\rho_h + a_{\mu} = 0, \qquad (4.34)$$

and can be imposed in the second order expressions. The result can be put into the following form

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{3}{\rho_h (1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - c_3}})^{2/3}} \partial_\mu (\rho_h^2 u^\mu) &- \left( \frac{4 + 4\sqrt{1 - c_3} - 4c_3 - 2c_3\sqrt{1 - c_3} + c_3^2}{2(1 + \sqrt{1 - c_3})^2} \right. \\ &+ \frac{c_3}{8\rho^4 K^2} (\rho^2 H' - 2\rho H) \right) \sigma^2 = 0, \quad (4.35) \end{aligned}$$

where the functions appearing are to be evaluated at the Killing horizon. Consistent with results at the boundary, all  $a_{\mu}a^{\mu}$  terms cancel out of the final expression and only shear squared remains.

## 4.4 The ratio of shear viscosity to entropy density

We now can determine the shear viscosity by matching (4.35) to the general hydrodynamic entropy balance law (3.6)

$$\partial_{\mu}(su^{\mu}) = \frac{2\eta}{T} \sigma_{\mu\nu} \sigma^{\mu\nu}. \tag{4.36}$$

with s given in (4.10) and T in (4.5). We read off that

$$\eta = \frac{\rho_h^2}{16\pi} \left( 1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - c_3}} \right)^{2/3} \times \left( \frac{4 + 4\sqrt{1 - c_3} - 4c_3 - 2c_3\sqrt{1 - c_3} + c_3^2}{2(1 + \sqrt{1 - c_3})^2} + \frac{c_3}{8\rho^4 K^2} (\rho^2 H' - 2\rho H) \right).$$
(4.37)

For  $c_3 > 1$  the formula is ill-defined, but in this regime the theory is known to suffer from negative energies, unstable linearized wave modes, etc. See the review in [1, 2]. Working to linear order in  $c_3$  and using the results above for H, we find

$$\eta = \frac{2^{2/3}}{16\pi} \rho_h^2 \left( 1 - c_3/2 + O(c_3^2) \right) . \tag{4.38}$$

As a check, we also evaluated the shear viscosity from the boundary stress tensor. In this case, one inserts the first order metric solution into (4.6) with counterterm (4.7) and reads off the shear viscosity as the coefficient of the shear term in the hydrodynamic stress tensor. The result depends on the value of  $H_2$  in the asymptotic expansion (4.24) for  $H(\rho)$ 

$$\eta = -\frac{3}{32\pi}H_2,\tag{4.39}$$

matching with (4.38), as expected.

Dividing by the entropy density s (4.10), we find the shear viscosity to entropy density ratio

$$\frac{\eta}{s} = \frac{2^{2/3}}{4\pi} \left( 1 + O(c_3^2) \right). \tag{4.40}$$

Expanding out the solution for  $H(\rho)$  to higher orders in  $c_3$  and repeating the calculation indicates that the ratio is independent of  $c_3$  up to fourth order. Therefore we conjecture that in general

$$\eta = \frac{2^{2/3}\sqrt{1-c_3}}{16\pi}\rho_h^2. \tag{4.41}$$

Curiously, in the limit as  $c_3 \to 0$  the shear viscosity to entropy density ratio differs from the GR value of  $1/4\pi$  by a factor of  $2^{2/3}$ . The discrepancy arises because as  $c_3 \to 0$  the universal horizon entropy density s goes to  $\rho_h^2/4$ , while the Killing horizon entropy density expected in pure GR gives  $s_{KH} = A_{KH}/4 = 2^{2/3}s$ . This suggests that simply taking  $c_3 \to 0$  limit in Horava-Lifshitz gravity does not reduce to GR. The causal boundary in GR is associated with the Killing horizon, while that of Horava-Lifshitz gravity with the universal horzion. Thus, one should in the limit also shift variables to  $s_{KH}$ .

## 5 Discussion

In the following we outline several open questions and directions. The new hydrodynamic transport associated with the breaking of boost invariance vanishes in the particular z = 1 solution that we studied. It would be valuable to construct gravitational solutions with  $z \neq 1$ , where one expects it to be generically non-vanishing.

Superfluid Lifshitz hydrodynamics has been analyzed in [37]. It would be interesting to construct dual gravitational solutions. These are black branes in Horava-Lifshitz gravity with hair corresponding to the condensate that breaks a U(1) global symmetry.

A simple formula for the ratio of the bulk viscosity to shear viscosity in holographic Lifshitz hydrodynamics has been derived in [38]. It is a generalization of [39] and is based on the horizon focusing equation. It is not clear that similar formula can be worked out for the new transport coefficient associated with broken boost invariance, but it is worth exploring this further.

If in addition to breaking boost invariance, one also allows a breakdown of rotational symmetry then there are new expected transports in field theory hydrodynamics. These should presumably correspond to the spin-1 helicity mode in the gravitational description. It would be interesting to work out this relation.

Finally, while the z = 1 black brane hydrodynamics is conformal, it would be of interest to know whether there are Lorentz violating aspects that it exhibits beyond the hydrodynamic limit, both in the bulk and in the boundary field theory.

## Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Igal Arav and Adiel Meyer for valuable discussions. This work is supported in part by the I-CORE program of Planning and Budgeting Committee (grant number 1937/12), and by the US-Israel Binational Science Foundation.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

# References

- T. Jacobson and D. Mattingly, Gravity with a dynamical preferred frame, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 024028 [gr-qc/0007031] [INSPIRE].
- T. Jacobson, Einstein-aether gravity: a status report, PoS QG-PH (2007) 020 [arXiv:0801.1547] [INSPIRE].
- [3] T. Jacobson, Extended Hořava gravity and Einstein-aether theory, *Phys. Rev.* D 81 (2010) 101502 [Erratum ibid. D 82 (2010) 129901] [arXiv:1001.4823] [INSPIRE].
- [4] D. Blas, O. Pujolàs and S. Sibiryakov, Models of non-relativistic quantum gravity: the good, the bad and the healthy, JHEP 04 (2011) 018 [arXiv:1007.3503] [INSPIRE].
- [5] P. Hořava, Quantum gravity at a Lifshitz point, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 084008
   [arXiv:0901.3775] [INSPIRE].
- [6] C. Eling and T. Jacobson, Black holes in Einstein-aether theory, *Class. Quant. Grav.* 23 (2006) 5643 [Erratum ibid. 27 (2010) 049802] [gr-qc/0604088] [INSPIRE].
- [7] E. Barausse, T. Jacobson and T.P. Sotiriou, Black holes in Einstein-aether and Hořava-Lifshitz gravity, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 124043 [arXiv:1104.2889] [INSPIRE].
- [8] S.L. Dubovsky and S.M. Sibiryakov, Spontaneous breaking of Lorentz invariance, black holes and perpetuum mobile of the 2nd kind, Phys. Lett. B 638 (2006) 509 [hep-th/0603158]
   [INSPIRE].
- C. Eling, B.Z. Foster, T. Jacobson and A.C. Wall, Lorentz violation and perpetual motion, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 101502 [hep-th/0702124] [INSPIRE].

- [10] T. Jacobson and A.C. Wall, Black hole thermodynamics and Lorentz symmetry, Found. Phys. 40 (2010) 1076 [arXiv:0804.2720] [INSPIRE].
- [11] D. Blas and S. Sibiryakov, Hořava gravity versus thermodynamics: the black hole case, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 124043 [arXiv:1110.2195] [INSPIRE].
- [12] P. Berglund, J. Bhattacharyya and D. Mattingly, Mechanics of universal horizons, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 124019 [arXiv:1202.4497] [INSPIRE].
- [13] P. Berglund, J. Bhattacharyya and D. Mattingly, Thermodynamics of universal horizons in Einstein-aether theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 071301 [arXiv:1210.4940] [INSPIRE].
- [14] A. Mohd, On the thermodynamics of universal horizons in Einstein-aether theory, arXiv:1309.0907 [INSPIRE].
- B. Cropp, S. Liberati, A. Mohd and M. Visser, Ray tracing Einstein-aether black holes: Universal versus Killing horizons, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 064061 [arXiv:1312.0405]
   [INSPIRE].
- [16] S. Sahdev, Quantum phase transitions, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge U.K. (2011).
- [17] C. Hoyos, B.S. Kim and Y. Oz, *Lifshitz hydrodynamics*, *JHEP* 11 (2013) 145
   [arXiv:1304.7481] [INSPIRE].
- [18] C. Hoyos, B.S. Kim and Y. Oz, Lifshitz field theories at non-zero temperature, hydrodynamics and gravity, JHEP 03 (2014) 029 [arXiv:1309.6794] [INSPIRE].
- [19] S. Bhattacharyya, V.E. Hubeny, S. Minwalla and M. Rangamani, Nonlinear fluid dynamics from gravity, JHEP 02 (2008) 045 [arXiv:0712.2456] [INSPIRE].
- [20] C. Eling and Y. Oz, Relativistic CFT hydrodynamics from the membrane paradigm, JHEP 02 (2010) 069 [arXiv:0906.4999] [INSPIRE].
- [21] T. Griffin, P. Hořava and C.M. Melby-Thompson, Lifshitz gravity for Lifshitz holography, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 081602 [arXiv:1211.4872] [INSPIRE].
- [22] S. Janiszewski, Asymptotically hyperbolic black holes in Hořava gravity, arXiv:1401.1463 [INSPIRE].
- [23] T. Jacobson and D. Mattingly, *Einstein-aether waves*, *Phys. Rev.* D 70 (2004) 024003
   [gr-qc/0402005] [INSPIRE].
- [24] S. Janiszewski, A. Karch, B. Robinson and D. Sommer, Charged black holes in Hořava gravity, JHEP 04 (2014) 163 [arXiv:1401.6479] [INSPIRE].
- [25] F.-W. Shu, K. Lin, A. Wang and Q. Wu, Lifshitz spacetimes, solitons and generalized BTZ black holes in quantum gravity at a Lifshitz point, JHEP 04 (2014) 056 [arXiv:1403.0946] [INSPIRE].
- [26] K. Lin, F.-W. Shu, A. Wang and Q. Wu, High-dimensional Lifshitz-type spacetimes, universal horizons and black holes in Hořava-Lifshitz gravity, arXiv:1404.3413 [INSPIRE].
- [27] T.P. Sotiriou, I. Vega and D. Vernieri, Rotating black holes in three-dimensional Hořava gravity, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 044046 [arXiv:1405.3715] [INSPIRE].
- [28] C. Eling and Y. Oz, Holographic screens and transport coefficients in the fluid/gravity correspondence, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107 (2011) 201602 [arXiv:1107.2134] [INSPIRE].
- [29] T. Jacobson, Initial value constraints with tensor matter, Class. Quant. Grav. 28 (2011) 245011 [arXiv:1108.1496] [INSPIRE].

- [30] D. Blas, O. Pujolàs and S. Sibiryakov, On the extra mode and inconsistency of Hořava gravity, JHEP 10 (2009) 029 [arXiv:0906.3046] [INSPIRE].
- [31] C. Eling, Energy in the Einstein-aether theory, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 084026 [Erratum ibid. D 80 (2009) 129905] [gr-qc/0507059] [INSPIRE].
- [32] B.Z. Foster, Radiation damping in Einstein-aether theory, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 104012
   [Erratum ibid. D 75 (2007) 129904] [gr-qc/0602004] [INSPIRE].
- [33] J.M. Martín-García, xAct: efficient tensor computer algebra, http://www.xact.es/.
- [34] S. Bhattacharyya, R. Loganayagam, I. Mandal, S. Minwalla and A. Sharma, Conformal nonlinear fluid dynamics from gravity in arbitrary dimensions, JHEP 12 (2008) 116 [arXiv:0809.4272] [INSPIRE].
- [35] M. Van Raamsdonk, Black hole dynamics from atmospheric science, JHEP **05** (2008) 106 [arXiv:0802.3224] [INSPIRE].
- [36] P. Kovtun, D.T. Son and A.O. Starinets, Viscosity in strongly interacting quantum field theories from black hole physics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 94 (2005) 111601 [hep-th/0405231]
   [INSPIRE].
- [37] S. Chapman, C. Hoyos and Y. Oz, Lifshitz superfluid hydrodynamics, JHEP 07 (2014) 027 [arXiv:1402.2981] [INSPIRE].
- [38] C. Hoyos, B.S. Kim and Y. Oz, Bulk viscosity in holographic Lifshitz hydrodynamics, JHEP 03 (2014) 050 [arXiv:1312.6380] [INSPIRE].
- [39] C. Eling and Y. Oz, A novel formula for bulk viscosity from the null horizon focusing equation, JHEP 06 (2011) 007 [arXiv:1103.1657] [INSPIRE].